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MANAGING DIRECTOR'S REVIEW

The year 2014 can be described as a turning point in terms of the development of our Origination 
business and the continuation of large-scale stock market trading operations. The directives adopted at 
the start of the year by the European Union increasing the complexity of routine reporting and 
toughening the rules on the guarantee provision for open stock positions forced the senior management 
of RAO Nordic Oy to thoroughly re-examine its strategy for the future development of the business.
 
These changes, which will come into force in 2016, will lead to a significant increase in expenses and a 
consequent reduction in the margins of our client business and increase in the risk of losses occurring. 
After analysing the situation, the company's senior management has proposed using the time we have 
available to gradually reduce our activity in this area with the aim of making a "soft" exit from this 
business by selling off the majority of the client portfolio we have built up.

This initiative was approved by the Board of Directors. During 2014 and the first half of 2015, the 
operation to exit the client business was accomplished successfully, posting a significantly positive 
financial result for the whole period in which this activity took place.

In terms of our main activity of importing electricity from the Russian Federation, at the end of 2014 we 
observed increased activity – largely connected with the advantageous EUR/RUB exchange rate – 
which enabled us to end the year with a volume of 3,4 TWh. 

Last year again demonstrated the ability of the company's senior management and entire team to 
successfully deal with the most complex and multidimensional challenges, emerging honourably from 
some tricky and mostly unforeseeable situations. 

Going forward, the company plans to focus on cross-border trading, as this is our most reliable asset in 
the constantly changing financial market situation.

Oleg Zakataev 
Managing Director
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COMPANY

RAO Nordic Oy is an energy trading company that has been operating in the Nordic countries since 
2002. The company is owned by PJSC “Inter RAO”, a diversified energy holding company that 
manages assets in Russia, Europe and CIS countries and is the leading energy export and import 
operator in Russia.

The company has been a balance responsible company in Finland almost since the beginning of its 
operations. Since 2012, the company acts as a balance responsible company also in Norway.

RAO Nordic trades both physical electricity and financial energy derivatives. Cross-border trading 
activities include the power purchase from production assets and power markets in neighboring 
countries. In addition to the core business – cross-border energy trading – the company had been 
developing Origination business for the past four years. Being among the foremost pioneers in Finland, 
the Origination team achieved impressive outcomes in a very short period of time. However, as a result 
of revising the business strategy of RAO Nordic in 2014, it was decided to scale down origination 
operations and concentrate on the core business of the company. 

Adress: Tammasaarenkatu 1, FI-00180 Helsinki (see the map)
Phone: +358 9 773 81 000
E-mail: office@raonordic.com
Business ID: FI 17849377

Contact Information
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS

CROSS-BORDER TRADING

The electricity market environment remained challenging for cross-border trading operations for the 
most of the year 2014, resulting in a 24% decrease in electricity volumes imported into the Nordic 
market from Russia. Despite the significant change in the EUR/RUB exchange rate that stimulated 
cross-border trading at the end of the year, the annual imported volumes declined from 4.5 TWh (2013) 
to 3.4 TWh (2014).

The imported electricity is purchased from the Russian day-ahead market on a daily basis provided that 
the purchase costs are lower than the sales income on the Nord Pool Spot Elspot market. The 
cross-border fees on both sides of the border and the high capacity payments in the Russian electricity 
market make cross-border trading operations unprofitable for several hours a day, reducing import 
volumes significantly. High capacity costs affect exported electricity in the same way as domestic 
consumption; hence, imports from Russia are unprofitable during peak consumption hours.

Commercial power exports from Finland to Russia became possible as of 
1 December 2014.

During the spring, the final tests were conducted at the Vyborg converting complex and it became 
technically possible to export power from Finland to Russia. The contracts between Finnish and 
Russian national grid companies and system operators enabling commercial exports from Finland to 
Russia were finally signed on November 7th, 2014. The capacity of 320 MW became available for 
commercial purposes, with an additional 30 MW reserved by Fingrid for its own use.

In order to enable electricity exports from Finland to Russia, the purchase prices in Finland should be 
lower than electricity day-ahead prices in Russia. Due to relatively low day-ahead prices in Russia and 
high cross-border fees on both sides of the border, so far there have been no commercial prerequisites 
for deliveries from Finland to Russia.
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Constantly changing cross-border transmission service terms

The new cross-border transmission service terms for the year 2015 include several major changes. 
They were confirmed by the Energy Authority only on December 9th, 2014, providing a very short period 
of time for the parties concerned to implement the changes. The validity period of the terms is only five 
months, and further changes are expected to happen on June 1st, 2015. 
Among other changes, the electricity transmission service terms that are valid in Finland starting from 
January 1st, 2015 impose an obligation to sell both the bilateral trade and direct trade volumes directly 
on the Nord Pool Spot Elspot market. This change forces RAO Nordic to terminate its physical sales 
contracts with customers. The remaining counterparty contracts will end during spring 2015.
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BUSINESS OPERATIONS

RAO Nordic has been actively developing Structured Product Trading since 2010 and has become one 
of the most active players in the Nordic Energy market. However, changes in the market environment 
combined with ongoing market reform forced us to revise our business operations.

Changes in the EU-regulations / market environment

Full trade reporting in accordance with the provisions of European Market Infrastructure Regulation 

(EMIR) commenced on February 12th, 2014. Further changes in EU-regulations will have significant 

impacts on the Origination business in the Nordic countries. 

Under the upcoming amendments to the currently effective legislation, there are at least two matters 

that require actions from the trading companies in the near future. Firstly, it is probable that the EMIR 

regulation will stop the usage of bank guarantees as collaterals at the exchanges during 2016. 

Secondly, non-financial commodity trading firms currently operating under MiFID exemption must make 

sure that they can comply with MiFID II that becomes effective in 2017.

 

Scaling down Origination business 

Business strategy of RAO Nordic was thoroughly revised at the end of 2014. According to the resolution 

of the Board, it was decided to scale down the Origination operations of the company during 2014. The 

company continues fulfilling its contractual obligations towards its customers. The focus of company’s 

operations shifted to cross-border trading and business activities that are related to power interchange 

across border connections between Russia and Nordic countries.

ORIGINATION
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Corporate Governance 

Corporate Governance

RAO Nordic’s corporate governance is a set of rules and procedures for managing and controlling the 
company’s activities and corporate affairs in the best interests of all our stakeholders – including our 
sole shareholder, Open Joint Stock Company Inter RAO UES (JSC “Inter RAO”), our business partners 
and our clients – in the complex social, regulatory and market environment that exists today. The 
company considers corporate governance as a tool for improving its efficiency and enhancing its 
reputation. Corporate governance at RAO Nordic is based on the common principles of corporate 
responsibility: pursuing our stakeholders’ interests, integrity and ethical behavior, disclosure and 
transparency, as well as the laws of Finland – including the EU rules and regulations – and the 
company’s statutes, internal and group corporate standards and regulations. 

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the ultimate governing body of RAO Nordic. Its powers are 
vested in the sole shareholder, who approves the consolidated financial statements, decides on the 
distribution of profits and appoints the members of the Board of Directors and the auditors, as well as 
exercising other powers defined by the law. The company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 
general administration of RAO Nordic and for ensuring that the business complies with relevant laws 
and regulations, including the Finnish Companies Act, RAO Nordic’s Articles of Association and any 
instructions given by the General Meeting of Shareholders. The everyday activities of RAO Nordic are 
administered by its Managing Director. 

Risk Management

RAO Nordic has adopted comprehensive risk management policy in respect of its business operations 
and transactions; it prescribes the risk limits, principles and methods for their calculation and 
evaluation. The Board of Directors assumes responsibility for the risks and results of the company. The 
risk policy of the company is approved by the Board of Directors based on the mandate given by the 
shareholder. 

The Board of Directors has delegated risk management to the Risk Management Board Committee. 
The Board of Directors has appointed eight members to the Committee – representatives of both RAO 
Nordic and the JSC “Inter RAO”. The Managing Director, Oleg Zakataev, is acting as the Chairman of 
the Risk Management Committee and the Manager of the Risk Division, Päivi Oinonen, as Secretary. 
Other members of the Committee are: Financial Director, Igor Pavlov; Head of Cross-border Trading, 
Marja Rasi-Kurronen and Head of Origination, Raija Seppälä. In 2013, JSC “Inter RAO” designated the 
following representatives to the Committee: Alexander Zotov and Artem Kokosh. The reports of the Risk 
Management Board Committee are approved by the Board on a quarterly basis. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
RISK MANAGEMENT
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Corporate Governance 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Anton Badenkov

Member of the Board of Directors of RAO Nordic Oy

Advisor of the Chairman of the Management Board 
of JSC INTER RAO UES

Karina Tsurkan

Chairman of the Board of Directors of RAO Nordic Oy

Member of the Management Board of JSC Inter RAO

Head of the Trading Unit of JSC INTER UES

Ilnar Mirsiyapov

Member of the Board of Directors of RAO Nordic Oy

Member of the Management Board of JSC Inter RAO

Head of the Strategy and investment Unit of JSC 
INTER RAO UES
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Dmitriy Palunin

Member of the Board of Directors of RAO Nordic Oy

Member of the Management Board of JSC Inter RAO

Head of the Financial and Economic Centre of JSC 
INTER RAO UES

Oleg Zakataev

Member of the Board of Directors of RAO Nordic Oy

Managing Director of RAO Nordic Oy
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Corporate Governance 
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FINANCIALS

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. Development of operations during the year 2014

The main parts of RAO Nordic’s business operations in 2014 have been electricity imports from Russia 
and selling it to electricity markets in Finland and in Norway and Origination business. Starting from 
1.12.2014 it became possible also t o export electricity from Finland to Russia after the main grid 
companies of both countries signed the necessary agr eements enabling the bi-directional commercial 
operation of the DC-connection between Russia and Finland. During 2014 there were no commercial 
exports from Finland to Russia.
In 2014 RAO Nordic has delivered in total 3,4 TWh of physical electricity (4,8 TWh in 2013) and traded 
over 29 TWh of financial contracts (19 TWh in 2013). The gross sales figure was EUR 136 million (EUR 
222 million in 2013) and the operating loss was EUR 6,4 million (operating loss EUR 1,1 million in 
2013).

During 2014 the investment in Moldavskaya GRES has been disposed. Disposal proceeds was EUR 
2,5 million.

2. Major events after the balance sheet date

During the last months of 2014 there was an increase of periods when it was profitable to import 
electricity from Russia to Finland thus increasing the imported volume. That has continued also in the 
beginning of 2015. There have been no other events after the 31 December 2014 that may influence or 
have any material impact on the activities of RAO Nordic or its financial position. Group events after the 
balance sheet date are reported in the note 27 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Estimate of the future development

The business strategy of RAO Nordic Oy has been revised during 2014. As a result it was decided to 
scale down origination operations of the company. From now on, the focus of the company is on 
cross-border trading and business activities that are related to power interchange across the border 
connections between Russia and Nordic countries.

4. Estimation of major risks

RAO Nordic’s business risks can be summarized as follows: 

1. Operating risk: Operating risk refers to the inherent or general business risk of a company such as 
country risk, political risk and economic risk. General business risk refers to risks related to general 
business concerns of regime stability, turmoil, corruption, financial transfer, loan default, direct 
investment and export markets. Due to the nature of the business i.e. trading electricity which is mainly 
purchased from Russia, RAO Nordic´s operating risk can be seen higher than moderate.

2. Market risk: Market risk is the risk that is incurred due to uncertainties in the market.  Uncertainties 
may include fluctuations in raw material and production costs, demand, and pricing. Market risk is a 
standard risk borne by any firm involved in market driven transactions. Due to the fact that RAO Nordic 
trades electricity which is rather volatile commodity, RAO Nordics market risk can be seen high.

3. Product liability/Warranty risk: Product liability risk arises from the sale of defective products. 
Warranty risk refers to the risk that companies face when customers make claims against them if 
products and/or services are not offered according to the agreed upon terms and conditions. Due to the 

RAO Nordic Oy | +358 9 773 81 000 | Tammasaarenkatu 1, FI-00180 Helsinki | office@raonordic.com | Company ID: FI17849377 9

nature of the product and the fact that the electricity is always available, RAO Nordic’s product liability 
/ warranty risk can be seen rather low.

4. Bad debt risk: Bad debt risk is the risk that a supplier will not receive payment from a customer. When 
trading via Nord Pool Spot AS and NASDAQ OMX exchanges is concerned, the bad debt risk is 
regarded low. As RAO Nordic’s industrial clients are well established businesses, the bad debt risk can 
be seen as moderate.

5. Foreign exchange risk: Foreign exchange risk arises from fluctuations in currencies where a 
company bears costs in one currency and receives revenue in a different currency. Due to the fact that 
the physical electricity is almost purely purchased and sold in euro and major part on financial trading 
is carried out in euro, RAO Nordic’s foreign exchange risk can be seen as rather low.

6. Estimation of the major Group risks is reported in the note 24 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

5. Development and research activities

RAO Nordic does not have major development and research activities due to the nature of its business.

6. Valuation of financial instruments

The financial instruments are recognized at fair value according to the Accounting Act 5:2a §.

Commodity risk hedging

Commodity risk hedging has been applied since the financial year 2010. The Company has partly 
applied hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 as so-called cash flow hedge. A change in the fair 
value of electricity derivative hedge contract proven effective is entered directly in shareholders’ equity 
in fair value reserve, and only after the realization of the forecast electricity purchases it is entered in 
the income statement as an adjustment of the hedged purchases or sales. As at 31.12.2014 there were 
no open commodity hedging due to the market reasons.

7. Key figures of the parent company RAO Nordic Oy business and its financial 
position. Personnel key figures of the parent company RAO Nordic Oy.
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FINANCIALS

4. Bad debt risk: Bad debt risk is the risk that a supplier will not receive payment from a customer. When 
trading via Nord Pool Spot AS and NASDAQ OMX exchanges is concerned, the bad debt risk is 
regarded low. As RAO Nordic’s industrial clients are well established businesses, the bad debt risk can 
be seen as moderate.

5. Foreign exchange risk: Foreign exchange risk arises from fluctuations in currencies where a 
company bears costs in one currency and receives revenue in a different currency. Due to the fact that 
the physical electricity is almost purely purchased and sold in euro and major part on financial trading 
is carried out in euro, RAO Nordic’s foreign exchange risk can be seen as rather low.

6. Estimation of the major Group risks is reported in the note 24 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

5. Development and research activities

RAO Nordic does not have major development and research activities due to the nature of its business.

6. Valuation of financial instruments

The financial instruments are recognized at fair value according to the Accounting Act 5:2a §.

Commodity risk hedging
Commodity risk hedging has been applied since the financial year 2010. The Company has partly 
applied hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 as so-called cash flow hedge. A change in the fair 
value of electricity derivative hedge contract proven effective is entered directly in shareholders’ equity 
in fair value reserve, and only after the realization of the forecast electricity purchases it is entered in 
the income statement as an adjustment of the hedged purchases or sales. As at 31.12.2014 there were 
no open commodity hedging due to the market reasons.

7. Key figures of the parent company RAO Nordic Oy business and its financial 
position. Personnel key figures of the parent company RAO Nordic Oy.

 2014 2013  2012  
 in thousands of EUR  in thousands of EUR  in thousands of EUR  

Net turnover 135 682 221 703 157 043 

Operating profit -6 378 -1 067 -1 507 

Net profit -5 780 -12 708 -477  

Operating profit % -4,7 -0,5 -1,0  

Return on equity %  -25,5 -44,6 -1,0 

Equity to assets ratio% 31,6 36,4 52,0 
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8. RAO Nordic Group

In 2014 the Group companies Asia Energy B.V. and Orange Wings limited have been disposed.

9. Environmental issues

In the past the environmental issues have had no material impact on the Group business as RAO 
Nordic and its subsidiaries have been mainly involved in the energy trading business. But being 
engaged in purely trading business RAO Nordic has continuously looked for potential investment 
projects in EU countries. Nowadays the development strategy of the Group emphasizes the green 
power project development, technologies that provide the highest environmental benefit.

10. Shares

The share capital is split as follows:

11. The proposal of the Board of Directors of the profit distribution

The loss for the year 2014 amounted to 5,780 thousand EUR. The Board of Directors proposes not to 
pay any dividends for the year 2014. The loss will be transferred to retained earnings.

12. Board of Directors, Managing Directors and Auditors

The following persons included to the Board of the company during 2014.
Karina Tsurkan, Head of Trading Department JSC “Inter RAO”
Anton Badenkov, Advisor of Chairman of Management Board of JSC “Inter RAO”
Dmitriy Palunin, Chief Financial Officer JSC “Inter RAO”
Ilnar Mirsiyapov, Head of Strategy and Investment JSC “Inter RAO”
Oleg Zakataev, Managing Director of RAO Nordic Oy

Auditor has been Ernst & Young Oy and Mikko Rytilahti as a chief auditor.   

FINANCIALS

  2014 2013  2012  
 in thousands of EUR in thousands of EUR  in thousands of EUR 

Staff cost
  

2 702
 

Average number of 
employees 

 

14

3 020
 

17

3 672
 
 
 

17

 
 

20132014 

The Company has one series of shares (1 vote/share)                1305 shares 1305 shares
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All shares are equally entitled to distribution of dividend
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Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in associates
Other non-current assets
Assets classified as available-for-sale
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Accounts receivable and prepayments
Income tax prepaid
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Total assets

   
  31 December   2014  31 December   2013  

 

  

  

 
  

 

 

Note

8
6
7

10

9

11

13
12

 
36,923
23,520

78
20,135

-
-

80,656

29,081
179

18,098
12,606
59,964

140,620

 
38,690
24,508

42
22,873
3,968

35
90,116

18,990
2,556

13,191
5,572
40,309

130,425

Managing Director  O. Zakataev
Financial Director I. Pavlov

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2014
 (in thousands of EUR)

Assets
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Equity
Share capital    

Revaluation and fair value reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve

Hedge accounting reserve

Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to 
shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Other non-current liability

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Taxes payable, other than income tax

Income tax payable

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Note

14

14

14

16

9

9

16

17

18

31 December   2014

 

1,305

-

(920)

(251)

29,565

29,699
8,774

38,473

17,820

18,301

803

36,924

13,818

42,887

7,403

1,115

65,223
102,147
140,620

31 December   2013

 

1,305

-

(1,052)

(102)

29,062

29,213
4,945

34,158

22,652

24,059

760

47,471

17,459

25,522

5,787

28

48,796
96,267

130,425

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

Managing Director O. Zakataev
Financial Director I. Pavlov

Equity and liabilities
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Revenue
Operating expenses
Other operating income
Operating profit 
Finance income
Finance expenses
Share of  loss of associates
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expense)/ income
Other comprehensive income 
to be reclassified to profit or loss 
in subsequent periods:
Net gain on available-for-sale 
financial assets
Net movement on cash flow hedges
Income tax effect related to movement 
on cash flow hedges
Exchange gain on translation 
to presentation currency

Other comprehensive income/(expense)
 for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year, net of tax
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(expense) 
attributable to:
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Managing Director  O. Zakataev
Financial Director I. Pavlov

19
20
19

21
21
7

22

10
14

9, 22

15

347,306
(354,251)

17,560
10,615

709
(3,068)

103
8,359

(2,039)

6,320

-
(363)

70

132

(161)

6,159

503
5,817
6,320

486
5,673
6,159

EUR 0,385

408,529
(454,146)

38,022
(7,595)

637
(2,741)

(10)
(9,709)
1,200

(8,509)

(15,083)
(12)

34

(37)

(15,098)

(23,607)

(9,032)
523

(8,509)

(24,266)
659

(23,607)

EUR (6,921)

Note 2014 2013



Profit/(loss) before income tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss) 
before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of non-current assets
Share of loss of associates
Forex exchange (gain)/loss, net
Interest income
Interest expense
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating cash flows before working 
capital changes and income tax paid
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable 
and prepayments
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in taxes payable 
other than income tax
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in) / received from 
operating activities

FINANCIALS
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8,359

1,956
933

(103)
933
(55)

1,052
23

13,098

(7,353)
(4,906)

11,791

1,616
1,504

15,750

20
20
7

21
21
5
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(9,709)

2,471
9,281

10
(292)
(112)
1,261

25

2,935

(9,048)
(8,859)

16,640

(2,114)
(1,605)

(2,051)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Note 2014 2013Operating activities



Repayment of loans issued
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment and  intangible assets
Disposal of  subsidiaries
Interest received
Dividends received
Net cash (used in) / received from 
investing activities

Proceeds from current borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Net cash (used in) / received 
from financing activities
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 
on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) 
in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 
at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the year
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-

(17)
2,541

55
70

2,649

12,750
(19,937)
(2,337)
(1,844)

(11,368)

3

7,034

5,572

12,606

5

12
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-

(78)
120
302
219

563

10,394
(11,218)
(1,336)
(3,832)

(5,992)

4

(7,476)

13,048

5,572

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Note

Note

2014 2013

2013

Managing Director  O. Zakataev
Financial Director I. Pavlov

Investing activities

Financing activities 2014



Balance at 1 
January 2013
Profit for 
the period
Other 
comprehensive 
(expense)/ income 
for the year
Dividends
Balance at 31 
December 2013

Balance at 1 
January 2014
Profit for the 
period
Other 
comprehensive 
(expense)/ income 
for the year
Dividends
Balance at 31 
December 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Notes Share 
capital

Foreign 
currency  

translation 
reserve

14

14

Revaluation 
and fair 
value 

reserve 

Hedge 
accounting 

reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total Non- 
controlling 
interests 

Total
equity

1,305  

- 

- 
-

1,305

1,305
- 

- 
-

1,305

(1,015)  

-  

(37)
-

(1,052)

(1,052)
-  

132
-

(920)

15,083  

-   

(15,083)
-

-

-
-   

-
-

-

12 

-

 (114)
-

(102)

(102)
-

(149)
-

(251)

38,094  

(9,032)

-
-

29,062

29,062
503

-
-

29,565

53,479  

(9,032)

(15,234)
-

29,213

29,213
503

(17)
-

29,699

8,118  

523

136
(3,832)

4,945

4,945
5,817

(144)
(1,844)

8,774

61,597

(8,509)

(15,098)
(3,832)

34,158

34,158
6,320

(161)
(1,844)

38,473

Managing Director  O. Zakataev
Financial Director I. Pavlov

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
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The Group and its operations

Organisation and operations
RAO Nordic Оу (the "Parent Company") was established in the year 2002 in Finland and started its 
operations on 1 October 2002.  OJSC Inter RAO is a founder and 100 percent shareholder of the Parent 
Company.
The Parent Company’s subsidiaries (together referred as "Group") as at 31 December 2014 are 
presented in Note 26.
The Group’s activities include re-selling of electricity, purchased mainly from Inter RAO, on the Finnish, 
and Baltic markets.
At 31 December 2014, the number of employees of the Group was 55 (2013: 60).
The Parent Company’s office is registered at Tammasaarenkatu 1, FIN-00180 Helsinki, Finland.
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Board at the 10th of February as latest. The 
financial statements may not be amended after the issue.

Group’s business environment
The Governments of the countries where the Group operate directly affect the Group's operations 
through regulation with respect to energy generation, purchases and sales. Governmental economic, 
social and other policies in these countries could have a material effect to the Group.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact 
of the business environment in the countries, where the Group operates, to operations and financial 
position of the Group. Management is unable to predict all developments which could have an impact 
on the utility sector and the wider economy in these countries and consequently, what effect, if any, they 
could have on the financial position of the Group. Therefore, future developments in business 
environment may differ from management’s assessment.
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Financial conditions

As at 31 December 2014 the amount of current liabilities exceeded the current assets of the Group by 
EUR 5,259 thousand (as at 31 December 2013 current liabilities exceeded the current assets of the 
Group by EUR 8,487 thousand). The change in the current financial position in 2014 is mainly explained 
by the revaluation of short-energy derivatives which influenced working capital structure.

The main goal of the Group’s investment, financial and operational activities is to maximize cash flows 
and minimize cost of capital.

The Group aims to achieve its objectives principally by applying the following efforts:
• Investment activity intensification in the electric power markets where the Group has competitive 

advantages;
• Increasing of sales in adjacent markets to strengthen the Group’s position on the given electric power 

markets;
• Strengthening of the vertical integration between the assets acquired by the Group so as to maximize 

the income from electric power sales.

Based on the above, management of the Group believes that it is appropriate to present these financial 
statements on a going concern basis.



11. The proposal of the Board of Directors of the profit distribution

The loss for the year 2014 amounted to 5,780 thousand EUR. The Board of Directors proposes not to 

pay any dividends for the year 2014. The loss will be transferred to retained earnings.

12. Board of Directors, Managing Directors and Auditors

The following persons included to the Board of the company during 2014.

Karina Tsurkan, Head of Trading Department JSC “Inter RAO”

Anton Badenkov, Advisor of Chairman of Management Board of JSC “Inter RAO”

Dmitriy Palunin, Chief Financial Officer JSC “Inter RAO”

Ilnar Mirsiyapov, Head of Strategy and Investment JSC “Inter RAO”

Oleg Zakataev, Managing Director of RAO Nordic Oy

Auditor has been Ernst & Young Oy and Mikko Rytilahti as a chief auditor.   
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Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Each entity within the Group individually maintains its own books of accounts and prepares financial 

statements in accordance with the local accounting requirements. These financial  statements are 

based on the statutory records and adjusted and reclassified for the purpose of fair presentation in 

accordance with IFRS. 

Basis of measurement. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following 

items: 

- available-for-sale investments accounted for at fair value;

- cash-flow hedging instruments and other derivatives accounted for at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency. 

The national currencies of the countries, where the Group’s subsidiaries operate, are usually the 

company’s functional currencies, because they generally reflect the economic substance of the 

underlying transactions and circumstances of these subsidiaries.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in the European Euro (“EUR”) since 

management believes that this currency is a more useful measure for the potential users of the 

consolidated financial statements. All financial information presented in EUR has been rounded to the 

nearest thousand.

Seasonality. 

Demand for electricity is to some extent influenced by the season of the year. The Group’s monthly 

revenue in the period from October to March is usually higher than in other months. This seasonality 

does not impact the revenue or cost recognition policies of the Group.

Going concern. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the 

realisation of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. These 

accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustment that might be necessary should the 

Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments. 

The Group’s management makes estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are 

based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgments, apart 

from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. The judgments that 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and estimates 

that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year are presented below.

Judgements

Effectiveness of cash-flow hedging
Management of the Group applies its judgements in determination of hedging effectiveness. 

Effectiveness test is performed annually on the reporting date. 
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Hedging is considered to be effective if the below criteria are met: 
1.The probability of the forecasted hedged electricity sales is high because the hedged item is only a 

certain part of the forecasted monthly electricity sales. In this case, a larger fluctuations in electricity 
sales do not create a potential hedge ineffectiveness.

2.There are demonstrable documents, showing that the defined hedged item (forecasted electricity 
sales) will remain fairly stable and the actual monthly sales volumes can be verified.

3.The prospective efficiency test will be carried out by using the Critical Terms Comparison method and 
Dollar offset method if needed.

If there is an indicator of inefficiency the Dollar offset method with Hypothetical Derivative approach is 
used. The hedged risk is estimated based on ‘hypothetical derivative’. The hypothetical derivative 
approach compares the change in the fair value or cash flows of the hedge instrument with the change 
in the fair value or cash flows of the hypothetical derivative.

For valuation of both hedge instrument and hedged item the Group used the discount rate modelled on 
the basis of current market rates.

If there is an indicator of inefficiency the Dollar offset method with Hypothetical Derivative approach is 
used. The hedged risk is estimated based on ‘hypothetical derivative’. The hypothetical derivative 
approach compares the change in the fair value or cash flows of the hedge instrument with the change 
in the fair value or cash flows of the hypothetical derivative.

For valuation of both hedge instrument and hedged item the Group used the discount rate modelled on 
the basis of current market rates.

Dollar offset method provides an advantage in determining the extent of ineffectiveness that has 
occurred and calculation of figures to be accounted in the financial statements.

In order to verify the effectiveness of hedges the actual monthly sales amount has to be compared with 
the actual hedged amount. If the realized electricity sales are higher than the actual hedges for that 
month the hedge can be recognized as efficient.

There was no hedge reserve as at 31 December 2014 due to the low forward prices comparing to 
average purchase prices in Russia.

Starting from 2012 the Group recognizes all physical trades done under Origination business as 
financial derivatives using IAS 39.5 rules that apply to non-financial items. The main reasoning is that 
these contracts are derivatives in essence being physically in form and should be measured at fair 
value through profit and loss starting from inception.

All these contracts are recorded in Origination book and thus separated from Asset-back trading 
business dealing with normal physical supply of electricity. As at 31.12.2014 the fair value of these 
derivatives was EUR 4 343 thousand.

Estimates

Impairment provision for accounts receivable (note 11)

The impairment provision for accounts receivable is based on the Group’s assessment of the 
collectability of specific customer accounts. If there is deterioration in a major customer’s 
creditworthiness or actual defaults are higher than the estimates, the actual results could differ from 
these estimates.
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If the Group determines that no objective evidence exists that impairment has occurred for an 
individually assessed accounts receivable, whether significant or not, it includes the account receivable 
in a group of accounts receivable with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them 
for impairment. 

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, accounts receivable are grouped on the basis 
of similar credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash 
flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. 

Future cash flows in a group of accounts receivable that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 
estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets and the experience of management 
in respect of the extent to which amounts will become overdue as a result of past loss events and the 
success оf recovery of overdue amounts. Past experience is adjusted on the basis of current 
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect past periods and to remove 
the effects of past conditions that do not exist currently.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (note 6)

The estimation of the useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment is a matter of management 
judgment based upon experience with similar assets. In determining the useful life of an asset, 
management considers the expected usage, estimated technical obsolescence, physical wear and tear 
and the physical environment in which the asset is operated. Changes in any of these conditions or 
estimates may result in adjustments for future depreciation rates.

Fair value of available-for-sale investments (note 10)

Estimation of fair value of available-for-sale investments was made based on discounted future cash 
flows of business entity. The following assumptions were used for the estimation:

- Period of valuation: 2014-2032 plus termination value.
- Discounting factor: 19,4%.
- Future revenues and expenses.

The future revenue was estimated based on region price forecasts taking into account the local 
electricity demands on local markets.  

Impairment of goodwill (note8)

As at 31 December 2014 impairment tests supported the ability of UAB INTER RAO Lietuva and 
Vydmantai Wind Park to generate future earnings sufficient to support the carrying value of the goodwill 
associated with the acquisition of that business.  Further details are disclosed in Note 8.

Tax contingencies 

The Group operate in a number of tax jurisdictions across Europe. Where management believes it is 
probable that their interpretation of the relevant legislation and the Group’s tax positions cannot be 
sustained, an appropriate amount is provided for in these financial statements. Tax contingencies are 
disclosed in Note 24.
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 Summary of significant accounting policies
 
Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
described below.

Basis of consolidation

Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent Company. Control is presumed to exist when the 
Parent Company directly or indirectly has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or 
otherwise has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are 
taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date when that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interest.
 
Non-controlling interest represents the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the equity 
and results of operations in the Group’s subsidiaries. It is calculated based upon the non-controlling 
interests’ ownership percentage in these subsidiaries. The non-controlling interest is disclosed as part 
of Equity.
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group. For purchases of non-controlling interests, the difference between 
consideration paid and the relevant share of the carrying value of this non-controlling interest is 
recognized in equity. Differences between consideration received and carrying value of non-controlling 
interests sold are also recorded in equity.

Associates.
  
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policies. Associates are accounted for using the equity method. The 
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses of associates, 
after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those applied by the Group, from the date when 
significant influence commences and until the date when significant influence ceases. When the 
Group’s share in an associate’s loss exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that 
interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of 
the investee.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date on which it ceases to have 
significant influence in associate.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation.
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group entities are 
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Company 
and all its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies. 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the investees; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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Business combinations

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method of accounting. Where 

the Group obtains control over an entity or a business, it measures the cost of the business combination 

as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 

assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group, in exchange for control of the acquiree.

Acquisition date is the date when the Group effectively obtains control over the acquiree.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions and translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Group 

entities at exchange rates effective at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are remeasured to the entities’ 

functional currencies at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 

measured at fair value in a foreign currency are remeasured to the functional currency at the exchange 

rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on 

remeasurement are recognised in profit and loss.

Available-for-sale equity instruments are considered non-monetary and the effect of exchange rate 

changes on their fair value is included in the fair value gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive 

income.

Assets and liabilities of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s 

presentation currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Profit and loss 

items of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the 

period (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 

prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on 

the dates of the transactions). Components of equity and other comprehensive income are translated 

at the historic rate with the exception of equity opening balances at the date of transition to IFRS which 

were translated at the exchange rate at the date of transition. Exchange differences arising on the 

translation of the net assets of the Company and its subsidiaries are recognised as translation 

differences in other comprehensive income and included in the foreign currency translation reserve in 

equity. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded initially based on historic cost. The cost of self-constructed 

assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production 

overheads. Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having 

different useful lives, those are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Renewals and improvements are capitalised and the assets replaced are retired. The costs of repair 

and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Gains and losses arising from the retirement of property, 

plant and equipment are included in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is 

accounted for separately, is capitalised with the carrying amount of the component being written off. 

Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 

embodied in the item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the 

consolidated income statement as an expense as incurred.
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Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is 
accounted for separately, is capitalised with the carrying amount of the component being written off. 
Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement as an expense as incurred.

Advances for capital construction and acquisition of property, plant and equipment are included into 
construction in progress.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the asset when it is available for use. Depreciation commences on the date of acquisition 
or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and ready for use. 
For the property, plant and equipment which were subject to the third party valuation, the depreciation 
rate applied is initially based on the estimated remaining useful lives as at the valuation date. The useful 
lives are reviewed at each financial year-end and, if expectations differ from previous estimates, the 
changes are recognised prospectively. The useful lives, in years, of assets by type of facility are as 
follows:

 Type of facility

Land
Buildings
Constructions
Plant and equipment
Other

 

 
  

 

  

 

 
  

 

 

Useful life, years

Not depreciated
8-71
13-50
4-50

3 – 20

Intangible assets

Goodwill
 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled companies.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. Goodwill in respect 
of subsidiaries is recognised as a separate asset within intangible assets in the statement of financial 
position. Goodwill in respect of associates and joint ventures is included in the carrying amount of the 
investees.
 
When the excess is negative (“negative goodwill”), the excess is recognised immediately in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is the subject for an annual 
impairment test.

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
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Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as expense as incurred.
As the result of acquisition of UAB Vydmantai Wind Park the operating licence was recognised as other 
intangible assets with initial value of EUR 11,527 thousand. The licence guarantees wind park electricity 
to be sold at the price level not less than 300 LTL per MWh. This tariff is valid till the end of 2020. The 
licence amortisation period is up to the end of 2020. As at 31.12.2014 the value of licence was EUR 
7,575 thousand.

Amortisation. 

Amortisation is recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date when they became available for use. The 
estimated useful lives of intangible assets are in the range of 2-10 years. 

Finance lease

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal 
to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 
The corresponding finance lease liability is carried at the present value of future lease payments.

Other leases are considered to be operating lease and the leased assets are not recognised on the 
Group’s statement of financial position. The total lease payments are recognized as expense in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Available-for-sale investments

Investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time are classified as available-for-sale; 
these are included in other non-current assets unless management has the express intention of holding 
the investment for less than 12 months from the end of the reporting period, they will need to be sold to 
raise operating capital or they mature within 12 months, in which case they are included in other current 
assets. Management determines the appropriate categorisation, current or non-current, at the time of 
the purchase and re-evaluates it based on maturity at the end of each reporting period. 

Available-for-sale investments include non-marketable securities, which are not publicly traded or 
listed. For these investments, fair value is estimated by reference to a variety of methods including 
those based on their earnings and those using the discounted value of estimated future cash flows. In 
assessing the fair value, management makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
at the end of each reporting period. Investments in equity securities that are not quoted on a stock 
exchange and where fair value cannot be estimated on a reasonable basis by other means, are stated 
at cost less impairment losses.

‘Regular way’ purchases and sales of investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs and recognised on the settlement date, which is the date that the investment is delivered to or by 
the Group. The available-for-sale investments are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of these investments are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and included in the fair value reserve in shareholders’ equity in the period in which they arise. 
Realised gains and losses from the disposal of available-for-sale investments are included in profit and 
loss in the period in which they arise.
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Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss when incurred as a result of one or more events 
(“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of available-for-sale investments. A significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it is impaired. 
The cumulative impairment loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is 
reclassified from equity fair value reserve to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. Impairment 
losses on equity instruments are not reversed. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt 
instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit and loss, the impairment loss is 
reversed through current period’s profit and loss.

The Group does not hold any investments held-to-maturity or for trading purposes.

Electricity derivatives

Electricity derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair value gains and losses on those derivatives are 
presented as part of other comprehensive income to the extent of effective cash-flow hedges and as 
part of profit or loss to the extent of ineffective cash-flow hedges.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 
determined on the weighted average basis, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the 
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
selling expenses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash in hand and cash deposited on demand at banks. Cash equivalents comprise 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash and have a maturity of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition and are subject to insignificant changes in value.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded inclusive of value added taxes (VAT) and are initially recorded at the 
amount receivable from the debtor. Trade and other receivables are adjusted for an allowance made for 
impairment of these receivables. Such an allowance for doubtful debtors is established if there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the carrying amount 
and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest for similar borrowers at the date of origination of the receivables.

Prepayments

Prepayments made by the Group are carried at cost less provision for impairment. Prepayments to 
acquire assets are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset once the Group has obtained control 
of the asset and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the 
Group. Other prepayments are written off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating to the 
prepayments are received. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating 
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to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly 

and a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss. Prepayments received by the 

Group are classified as non-current liabilities when the goods or services relating to the prepayment are 

to be delivered after one year. Where such prepayments relate to construction contracts revenue is 

recognised when the outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably, by reference to the stage of 

completion of the contract activity. 

Value added tax on purchases and sales 

Value added tax related to sales is payable to tax authorities either upon revenue recognition or at the 

time of collection of receivables from customers, depending on local statutory regulations in respective 

jurisdictions in which Group entities operate. Input VAT is reclaimable against sales VAT upon payment 

for purchases. The tax authorities permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and 

purchases which have not been settled at the end of the reporting period (deferred VAT) is recognised 

in the statement of financial position on a gross basis and disclosed separately as a current asset and 

liability. Where provision has been made for impairment of receivables, the impairment loss is recorded 

for the gross amount of the debtor’s balance, including VAT. The related deferred VAT liability is 

maintained until the debtor is written off for tax purposes. 

Impairment 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events 

have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 

difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining 

financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost the reversal is 

recognised in profit and loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows 

from the assets otherwise expired or (b) the Group has transferred the rights to the cash flows from the 

financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while (i) also transferring 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining 

substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but not retaining control. Control is retained if the 

counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party 

without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.
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Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax 
assets, are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash 
flows that are largely independent from those of other assets and groups. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of 
units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss previously recognised in respect of goodwill can not be reversed. In respect of other 
assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting period 
for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

Employee benefits

Pension and post-employment benefits. 
In the normal course of business the Group contributes to various governmental pension schemes on 
behalf of its employees. Mandatory contributions to governmental pension schemes are expensed in 
profit and loss when incurred. Costs associated with discretionary pensions and other post-employment 
benefits are included in wages, benefits and payroll taxes in profit and loss, however, separate 
disclosures are not provided as these costs are not material.

Short-term benefits. 
Short-term employee benefits obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed in 
profit and loss as the related service is provided.
A provision in profit and loss is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash 
bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

Borrowings 

Debt is recognised initially at its fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Fair value is determined 
using the prevailing market rate of interest for a similar instrument, if significantly different from the 
transaction price. In subsequent periods, debt is stated at amortised cost using the effective yield 
method; any difference between the amount at initial recognition and the redemption amount is 
recognised in profit and loss as an interest adjustment over the period of the debt obligation. 
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Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability.

Shareholder’s equity

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the end of the reporting period only 
if they are declared (approved by shareholders) before or on the end of the reporting period. Dividends 
are disclosed when they are declared after the end of the reporting period, but before the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

Earnings per share

Earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting period. 

Revenue and other operating income

Revenue from the sale of electricity, capacity and heat is recognised in profit and loss on the delivery of 
electricity, capacity and heat. Where applicable this revenue is based on the rates and related 
restrictions established by law and regulating authorities. The regulatory mechanisms differ from 
country to country.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised in line with the stage of completion of the 
services. Costs incurred in the year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from 
contract costs in determining the stage of completion. They are presented as part of amounts due to or 
due from customers for contract work. Revenue amounts are presented exclusive of value added tax.

Other operating income from the sale of electricity derivatives is recognized when a derivative is 
realized with a profit on the amount of profit realized during delivery period or profit locked when the 
opposite derivative is sold/purchased.

Finance income 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income and foreign currency 
gains. Interest income is recognised  as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend income 
is recognised when the dividends are declared and inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Finance expenses

Finance expenses primarily include interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of any discount on 
provisions and foreign currency losses. All borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method.
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Income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit and 

loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the 

initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 

investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the parent is able to control the timing of their reversal and 

it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

A deferred tax asset for deductible temporary differences and tax losses carry forward is recognised to 

the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary 

difference can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 

when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.

New accounting pronouncements and revised standards

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2014 are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual 

financial statements for 2013, except for the adoption of new amendments of the following standards 

became effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014, noted below: 

a) The amendments of the following standards became effective for the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements as of 1 January 2014:
  

• Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (amendments to IAS 32), issued in December 

2011, added criterion that an entity ‘currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 

amounts’ and criterion that an entity ‘intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and 

settle the liability simultaneously’. The Group applied these amendments beginning on 1 January 

2014. This amendment did not have material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

• Investment Entities (amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27), issued in October 2012 and 

effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2014, provide an exception to the consolidation 

requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment entity under IFRS 10. The exception 

to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or 

loss. This amendment  is not relevant for the Group, since none of the entities in the Group qualify to 

be an investment entity.
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• Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (amendments to IAS 36), issued in May 
2013, require the disclosure of information about the recoverable amount of impaired assets if that 
amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. This amendment did not have any effect on the 
consolidated financial statements because the Group’s policy is to use cost model for accounting for 
non financial assets.

• IFRIC 21 Levies. This interpretation clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the 
activity that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is 
triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be 
anticipated before the specified minimum threshold is reached. The Group applied IFRIC 21 
beginning on 1 January 2014. IFRIC 21 did not have any material effect on the consolidated financial 
statements.

• Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments to IAS 39), issued in 
June 2013, provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative 
designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria. The Group applied these amendments 
beginning on 1 January 2014. This amendment did not have any effect on the consolidated financial 
statements.

b) The following IFRSs and amendments to existing IFRSs that have been published are not yet 
effective

The following IFRS became effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements from 1 January 
2015:
  
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Part 1: Classification and Measurement. IFRS 9 was issued in 

November 2009 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of 
financial assets. Key features are as follows:

• Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be 
measured subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised 
cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s 
business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the instrument. 

• An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both 
(i)  the objective of the entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash 
flows, and (ii)  the  asset’s contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and 
interest (that is, it has only “basic loan features”). All other debt instruments are to be measured 
at fair value through profit or loss.

 
• All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are 

held for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity 
investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition to report unrealised and 
realised fair value gains and losses through other comprehensive income rather than profit or 
loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss.This election may 
be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be presented in profit or loss, 
as long as they represent a return on investment.  

 Summary of significant accounting policies
 
Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
described below.

Basis of consolidation

Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent Company. Control is presumed to exist when the 
Parent Company directly or indirectly has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or 
otherwise has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are 
taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date when that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interest.
 
Non-controlling interest represents the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the equity 
and results of operations in the Group’s subsidiaries. It is calculated based upon the non-controlling 
interests’ ownership percentage in these subsidiaries. The non-controlling interest is disclosed as part 
of Equity.
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group. For purchases of non-controlling interests, the difference between 
consideration paid and the relevant share of the carrying value of this non-controlling interest is 
recognized in equity. Differences between consideration received and carrying value of non-controlling 
interests sold are also recorded in equity.

Associates.
  
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policies. Associates are accounted for using the equity method. The 
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses of associates, 
after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those applied by the Group, from the date when 
significant influence commences and until the date when significant influence ceases. When the 
Group’s share in an associate’s loss exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that 
interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of 
the investee.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date on which it ceases to have 
significant influence in associate.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation.
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group entities are 
eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Company 
and all its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies. 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the investees; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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The IASB has published an amendment to IFRS 9 that delays the effective date from annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2015. This amendment is a result of the Board 
extending its timeline for completing the remaining phases of its project to replace IAS 39 beyond June 
2011. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the standard on the consolidated financial 
statements. Adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2015, earlier adoption is permitted.

The Group is considering the implication of the new standard and the impact on the Group.

There are other improvements, pronouncements and amendments that are not relevant to the current 
Group’s operations.

The Group plans to adopt new standards and amendments when they become effective.

Acquisitions and disposals

Disposals of the Group entities

In December 2014 the Group disposed 100% shareholding in Asia Energy B.V. The total consideration 
received was EUR 20 thousand. As a result of disposal the net profit of EUR 1,424 thousand was 
recognised in other operating income.

In May 2013 the Group disposed its shareholding in LLC Energospetzobsluzhivanie. The total 
consideration received was EUR 40 thousand.

In December 2013 LLP Kazenergoresurs, the Kazakhstan subsidiary, was liquidated due to the 
changes of Inter RAO trading profile in Kazakhstan. The liquidation proceeds was EUR 79 thousand.
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Balance at 1 January 2013
Additions
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2013

Balance at 1 January 2014
Additions
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2014

Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2013
Depreciation charge
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Balance at 31 December 2013

Balance at 1 January 2014
Depreciation charge
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Balance at 31 December 2014

Net book value
At 1 January 2013
At 31 December 2013
At 31 December 2014

3,289
80
-

3,369

3,369
69
-

3,438

(1,022)
(159)

-
-

(1,181)

(1,181)
(161)

-
-

(1,342)

2,267
2,188
2,146

28,327
78
-

28,407

28,407
119

-
28,476

(2,600)
(1,258)

-
-

(41)
(3,899)

(3,899)
(1,054)

-
-

(3)
(4,956)

25,727
24,508
23,520

25,038
-
-

25,038

25,038
-
-

25,038

(1,578)
(1,099)

-
-

(41)
(2,718)

(2,718)
(893)

-
-

(3)
(3,614)

23,460
22,320
21,424

Plant and 
equipment Other Total

Property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2014 as well as at 31 December 2013 the Group had no properties pledged as a 
security.

As at 31 December 2014 the Group had the wind park assets under finance lease agreement and two 
corporate cars. The NBV of wind mills as at 31 December 2014 was EUR 21,424 thousand.
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Investments in associates 

 
Details of the associate together with the movements in its carrying values is presented below:

 

UAB Alproka

 

 

  

 

  

 

 
  

31 December 

2013

49.99%

Country

Lithuania

Status

Associate

31 December 

2014

49.99%

Voting

 

  

 

  

 

 
  

UAB Alproka

Carrying value at 31 December 2012
Share of profit of the associate

Dividends received

Carrying value at 31 December 2013
Share of profit of the associate

Dividends received

Carrying value at 31 December 2014

UAB Alproka was engaged in local real estate business, namely seashore houses development, 

construction and disposal. As at 31 December 2014 it still has some apartments exposed for the sale. 

As at 31 December 2014 the assets fair value of UAB Alproka was EUR 172 thousand, the liabilities 

amounted was EUR 16 thousand. Net profit for 2014 EUR was 206 thousand.

269
(10)

(217)

42
103

(67)

78
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Intangible assets

As at 31.12.2014 the intangible assets included the fully amortized operating license Vydmantai Wind 

Park.

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Impairment loss

Balance at 31 December 
2013

Balance at 1 January 2014

Acquisition 

Impairment loss

Balance at 31 December 
2014

Amortisation and 
impairment
Balance at 1 January 2013

Amortisation charge

Impairment loss

Balance at 31 December 
2013

Balance at 1 January 2014

Amortisation charge

Impairment loss

Balance at 31 December 
2014

Net book value

At 1 January 2013
At 31 December 2013
At 31 December 2014

 

  

 

  

 

 

48,571

25

-

48,596

48,596

65

-

48,661

(8,695)

(1,211)

(9,906)

(9,906)

(1,832)

(11,738)

39,876
38,690
36,923

339

25

-

364

364

65

-

429

(339)

-

-

(339)

(339)

(6)

-

(345)

-
25
84

36,705

-

-

36,705

36,705

-

-

36,705

(6,511) 

-

-

(6,511) 

(6,511) 

(930)

-

(7,441) 

30,194
30,194
29,264

11,527

-

-

11,527

11,527

-

-

11,527

(1,845)

(1,211)

-

(3,056)

(3,056)

(896)

-

(3,952)

9,682
8,471
7,575

Goodwill Software

Operating

licence Total

                      

(a)  Amortization
The amortisation charge is included in operating expenses in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income.
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(b)  Goodwill
Goodwill as at 31 December 2014 includes the goodwill arisen on the acquisition of UAB INTER RAO 

Lietuva in the amount of EUR 27,548 thousand and was generated as a result of the Group’s ability to 

benefit from synergies available to it because of the Group’s position as an importer of Russian 

electricity and the strength of UAB INTER RAO Lietuva in selling imported electricity into the Lithuanian 

electricity market.

On 31 December 2014 the Group carried out an impairment test of the goodwill related to UAB INTER 

RAO Lietuva. For the purpose of impairment testing the goodwill is allocated to UAB INTER RAO 

Lietuva as an individual cash-generating unit.

The unit recoverable amount is based on value in use. The discount rate is based on WACC developed 

for Lithuania that is 16%.

The impairment test was based on the assumptions:

- UAB INTER RAO Lietuva is carrying out trading operations with electricity, including import deliveries 

from electricity system of the Russian Federation to the electricity market of the Lithuanian Republic 

and export deliveries from the electricity market of the Lithuanian Republic to other countries of Baltic 

region. 

- Starting from 2010, the electricity market of the Lithuanian Republic experiences significant changes 

due to the closure of the Ignalina Nuclear Power Plant with effect from the end of 2009. The Ignalina 

plant was the main electricity generating facility within Lithuania and the Baltic region, providing up to 

70% of electricity generation in that region. The electricity deficit arising due to the closure of Ignalina 

plant will be covered partially by additional production by the Lithuanian power stations and partially 

by additional imports to the Lithuanian electricity system from the neighbour systems, mostly from the 

electricity system of the Russian Federation, which have considerable export potential.

According to model the 51% of NPV is EUR 28,504 thousand that is still higher of the carrying value that 

includes both goodwill in the amount of EUR 27,548 thousand and 51% of the net assets as at 31 

December 2014 in the amount of EUR 850 thousand. 

The results of sensitivity analysis may be summarized as follows. One main factor has been changed 

– WACC.

 

WACC

16%
12%
18%

NPV/Carrying value

100%

129%

90%

Despite the fact that NPV is only covering the carrying value of the investment management considers 

that as at 31 December 2014 there are no indicators of goodwill impairment.

The goodwill which arose on acquisition of  Vydmantai Wind Park UAB was EUR 2,646 thousand. As a 

result of acquisition the Group received EUR 11,527 thousand of operating licence intangible asset that 

relates to the ability to receive the feed-in tariff on every MWh produced by the wind park. The 

guaranteed tariff is 300 LTL per MWh which is currently much above the market price. The tariff is valid 

till the end of 2020. The licence is amortised evenly during the period.

As at 31 December 2014 the impairment of Vydmantai Wind Park goodwill was recognised in the 

amount of EUR 930 thousand. The carrying value of goodwill is EUR 1,716 thousand.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets

Changes in fair 
value of hedging 
instruments

Other

Total deferred tax 
assets

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Deferred tax 
expense 
recognized in 
profit and loss

Deferred tax 
expense 
recognized in 
other 
comprehensive 
income

Net deferred tax 
liabilities

31 

December 

2014

-

-

(803)

(803)

(148)

(148)

35

35

(760)

(725)

(49)

(49)

83

34

1,521

1,521

84

-

84

(2,364)

(2,280)

(35)

(35)

105

70

Recognized 

in other 

comprehensive 

income

Recognized 

in profit

or loss

31 

December 

2013

Recognized

in other 

comprehensive 

income 

Recognized 

in profit or 

loss income 

1 

January 

2013

 
As at 31 December 2014 deferred tax liabilities in the amount of EUR (803) thousand related to 
Vydmantai hedge accounting reserve and Wind Park  operating licence recognition and temporary PPE 
differences between carrying value and value for income tax purposes due to finance lease accelerated 
depreciation. 

As at 31 December 2013 deferred tax assets related to hedge accounting reserve was recognized in 
the amount EUR 35 thousand. EUR (760) thousand of deferred tax liabilities were related to Vydmantai 
Wind Park  operating licence recognition and temporary PPE differences between carrying value and 
value for income tax purposes due to finance lease accelerated depreciation.

The short-term derivatives belong to level 1 fair value hierarchy, i.e. quoted prices in active markets are 
used for valuation purposes.    
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Other non-current assets and liabilities

Financial non-current  assets
Available-for-sale investments

Long-term derivatives

Non-current loans issued (including 

outstanding interest)

Long-term bank deposits

Quoted equity and debt instruments

Total financial non-current assets

Non-financial non-current assets
Prepayments to suppliers

Other non-current assets

Total non-financial non-current 
assets

31 December 2014

-

18,907

-

1,000

44

19,951

17

167

184
20,135

31 December 2013

3,968

22,321

2

500

33

26,824

-

17

17
26,841

As at 31 December 2013 available-for-sale investments included EUR 3,968 thousand  in respect of 

investment in the shares of CJSC Moldavskaya GRES. In December 2014 this investment was 

disposed. The disposal loss of EUR (1,447) thousand was recognised in operating expenses.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 

instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 

are observable, either directly or indirectly 

Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 

not based on observable market data
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As at 31 December 2014, the Group held the following financial assets carried at fair value on the 
statement of financial position: 

Assets measured at fair value

Available-for-sale investment

None-current loan issued

Derivatives

Other available-for-sale 
financial assets

Available-for-sale investment

None-current loan issued

Derivatives

Other available-for-sale 
financial assets

 
  

 

  

 

 

Level 3

-

-

-

-

Level 3

3,968

-

-

-

Level 1

-

-

18,907

1,044

Level 1

-

-

22,321

533

31 December 
2014

-

-

18,907

1,044

31 December 
2013

3,968

2

22,321

533

Level 2

-

-

-

-

Level 2

-

2

-

-

                      

During the reporting periods ending 31 December 2014 and 2013, there were no transfers between 
Level 1 and Level 3 fair value measurements.

The available-for-sale investment was disposed with the loss of EUR (1,447) thousand during 2014.

Other non-current liabilities related to long-term derivative financial instruments. At as 31.12.2014 the 
amount of derivatives was EUR (18,275) thousand. At as 31.12.2013 the long-term derivative amount 
was EUR (24,059) thousand.
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Accounts receivable and prepayments

Financial assets 

Trade receivables 
Other receivables
Short-term loans issued  
(including outstanding 
interest)
Total financial assets

Non-financial assets

Advances to suppliers and 
prepayments
Less impairment provision
Advances to suppliers and 
prepayments, net of 
impairment provision
Short-term VAT recoverable
Prepaid taxes, other than 
income tax

Total non-financial assets, 
net of impairment provision

Total accounts receivable 
and prepayments, net of 
impairment provision

31 December 2014  

22,397
2,212

-
24,609

4,450
-

4,450
4

18

4,472

29,081

31 December 2013

17,349
1,385

1
18,735

236
-

236
10

9

255

18,990

As at 31 December 2014 and 2013 none of accounts receivable was past due.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand in 

national currencies

Cash at bank and in hand in 

foreign currencies

Bank deposits with maturity of  

three months or less

Other cash and equivalents

31 December 2014

9,089

3,472

3

42

12,606

31 December 2013

3,947

1,622

3

-

5,572

These following tables provide information about the cash balances of the Group.

Financial institution

SEB AB

PLC Nordea Bank Finland

Handelsbanken AB

ING Bank NV 

Other

 

  

 

  

 

 

31 December 

2013

2,048

220

692

2,566

46

5,572

Rating agency

Moody's

Moody's

Moody's

Moody's

-

Credit rating

A1

Aa3

Aa3

baa1

-

31 December 

2014

9,579

675

642

1,656

54

12,606

                      



FINANCIALS
FINANCIALS / IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 (in thousands of EUR)

43RAO Nordic Oy | +358 9 773 81 000 | Tammasaarenkatu 1, FI-00180 Helsinki | office@raonordic.com | Company ID: FI17849377

Other current assets

Restricted cash

Short-term derivative financial 
instruments

Other

31 December 2014

3,585

14,483

30

18,098

31 December 2013

3,910

9,251

30

13,191

 

 

Short-term derivatives belong to the 1 level valuation hierarchy, i.e. quoted market prices are used for 
fair valuation purposes.
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Number of ordinary shares 
issued and fully paid (in units)

Par value 

31 December 2014

1,305

EUR 1,000

31 December 2013

1,305

EUR 1,000

 

 

Revaluation and fair value reserve

Equity

Share capital 

As at 1 January 2013
Net gain on available-for-sale 
financial assets

As at 31 December 2013
Net loss on available-for-sale 
financial assets

As at 31 December 2014

Available-for 
sale

reserve

15,083

(15,083)

-

-

-

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

-

-

-

-

-

Total

15,083

(15,083)

-

-
-

Available-for sale reserve

As at 31 December 2013 available-for sale reserve related to revaluation of 19.1% interest in JSC 
Moldavskaya GRES was impaired in full. The revaluation loss in the amount of  EUR (15,083) 
thousand was recognised in other comprehensive income. There were no movements in available-for 
sale reserve during 2014. It’s value as at 31 December 2014 is zero.

Cash flow hedge reserve

As at 31 December 2014 a hedge accounting reserve was recognized in the amount EUR (251) 
thousand (2013: EUR (102) thousand), net of income tax. The fair value of Vydmantai Wind Park UAB 
derivatives designated for hedging of EURIBOR rate was EUR (600) thousand.

Foreign currency translation reserve

As at 31 December 2014 foreign currency translation reserve was EUR (920) thousand (2013: EUR 
(1,052) thousand). During 2014 EUR 132 thousand of profit was recognized in the other 
comprehensive income.
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Dividends
 
There was no Group dividends for the years 2013 and 2012.
On 28 April 2014 UAB INTER RAO Lietuva, the Group’s 51% subsidiary, announced dividends for the 
year 2013 in the amount of EUR 3,765 thousand out of which EUR 1,845 thousand were paid to 
non-controlling shareholders. The dividend per share amounted to EUR 0.19 thousand.

On 30 April 2013 UAB INTER RAO Lietuva, the Group’s 51% subsidiary, announced dividends for the 
year 2012 in the amount of EUR 7,820 thousand out of which EUR 3,832 thousand were paid to 
non-controlling shareholders. The dividend per share amounted to EUR 0.39 thousand.
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Weighted average number of shares for 
the year ended 31  December (shares)

Profit/(loss) attributable to the 
shareholders of RAO Nordic Oy

Profit/(loss) per share – basic (EUR)

31 December 2014

1,305

503

385

31 December 2013

1,305

(9,032)

(6,921)

Earnings per share

Calculation of earnings per share is based upon the Group’s profit for the period and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, calculated as shown below. The 
Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Loans and borrowings

Non-current loans and borrowings

  

OJSC Inter RAO 

OJSC Inter RAO
 
SWEDBANK AB 

Swedbank lizingas UAB

Other

Total long-term borrowings

Less: current portion of 
long-term loans and 
borrowings and long-term 
financial lease

 
  

 

  

 

 

31 December 
2013

939

500

23,754

866

84

26,143

3,491

22,652

Effective 
interest rate

12.50%

15.00%

2,78%

4,8%

Currency

USD

USD

EUR

EUR

31 December 
2014

-

-

17,050

789

62

17,901

81

17,820

                      

The above long-term loans and borrowings are repayable in accordance with the schedule below: 

  

Between one and two years

Between two and five years

Between five and twenty years

31 December 2014

3,300

9,900

3,850

17,050

31 December 2013

4,496

9,000

8,350

21,846

Due for repayment
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Due for repayment

Between one and two years

Between two and five years

Between five and twenty years
  

31 December 2014

67

138

565

770

31 December 2013

81

209

516

806

Changes in interest rates impact loans and borrowings by changing either their fair value (fixed rate 
debt) or their future cash flows (variable rate debt). Management does not have a formal policy of 
determining how much of the Group’s exposure should be to fixed or variable rates. However, at the 
time of raising new loans or borrowings management uses its judgment to decide whether it believes 
that a fixed or variable rate would be more favourable to the Group over the expected period until 
maturity.

Current loans and borrowings

   

Nordea bank Finland

INTER RAO Credit B.V.

INTER RAO Credit B.V.

UAB Scaent Baltic

Swedbank lizingas UAB

INTER RAO Credit B.V.

INTER RAO Credit B.V.

SWEDBANK AB

Total

 
  

 

  

 

 

31 December 
2013

917

4,003

7,247

1,801

87

-

-

3,404

17,459

Effective 
interest rate

1,5%

5%

2,75%

2,19%

4,8%

4,2%

4,01%

2,78%

EUR

EUR

USD

EUR

EUR

USD

EUR

31 December 
2014

-

-

-

1,107

81

3,295

6,035

3,300

13,818

                      

The above long-term lease agreements are repayable in accordance with the schedule below:

Currency
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Short-term derivative financial 
instruments
Dividends payable
Other payables and accrued 
expenses
Total financial liabilities

Non-financial liabilities
Advances received
Staff payables
Other payables 
Total non-financial liabilities

Total

31 December 2014

21,932

14,324
-

573
36,829

5,528
161
369

6,058

42,887

31 December 2013

14,315

7,934
-

-
22,249

1,931
172

1,170
3,273

25,522

Short-term derivatives belong to the 1 level valuation hierarchy, i.e. quoted market prices are used for 
fair valuation purposes.
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Taxes payable

Value added tax

Other taxes

31 December 2014

7,212

191

7,403

31 December 2013

5,651

136

5,787



Credit rating

A1

Aa3

Aa3

baa1

-
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Revenue and other operating income

Electricity and capacity

Other revenue

The year ended 31 
December 2014

347,306

-

347,306

31 December 2013

408,529

-

408,529

Revenue

Electricity derivatives

Rent income

Other

For the year ended 31 
December 2014

15,902

15

1,643

17,560

For the year ended 31 
December 2013

34,993

27

3,002

38,022

Other operating income
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Operating expenses

Purchased Power
Transmission fees
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment
Employee benefit expenses and 
payroll taxes
Expenses from derivatives trading 
operations on the electricity market
Loss on sale of available-for-sale 
investment
Other materials for production 
purposes
Taxes other than on income
Impairment of available-for-sale 
investments
Impairment of Goodwill
Consulting, legal and auditing services
Charity donations
Insurance expenses
Business trip and field travel expenses
Material expenses (office maintenance)
Representative expenses
Advertising
Communication services
Operating lease expenses
Bank services
Amortisation of Intangible assets
Social Expenditure
Agency fees
Management and technical fee
Other operating expenses

The year ended
31 December 2014

295,528
15,208

1,054

5,941

17,937

1,447
-

433

-
930
790

1,153
13

163
67

132
101
421
256
64

902
27
-

681
11,003

354,251

The year ended
31 December 2013

375,910
20,417

1,258

6,813

29,739

41
247

9,240

-
1,207
904
18
251
81
227
113
532
325
89

1,213
4
2

643
4,872

454,146
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Finance income and expenses

Finance income

Interest income
Foreign exchange profit
Other financial income

The year ended 31 
December 2014

55
16

638
709

The year ended 31 
December 2013

112
463
62

637

Finance expenses

Interest expense
Foreign exchange loss
Other finance expenses

The year ended 31 
December 2014

1,052
949

1,067
3,068

The year ended 31 
December 2013

1,261
171

1,309
2,741
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Income tax expense

Income tax recognized in profit or loss:

Current tax expense 

Reversal of temporary differences deferred tax expense

Origination of deferred tax expense

The year ended 
31 December 

2014

The year ended 
31 December 

2013

Deferred tax on hedge reserve

The year ended 31 
December 2014

106

106

The year ended 31 
December 2013

34

34

Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income:

The Parent Company’s applicable tax rate is the corporate income tax rate of 20% (2013: 24,5%). The 
income tax rate in Lithuania is 15% (2013: 15%). In accordance with tax legislations, tax losses in 
different Group companies in the countries where the Group companies operate may not be offset 
against taxable profit of other Group companies. Accordingly, profit tax may accrue even where there is 
a net consolidated tax loss.

Profit before tax for financial reporting purposes is reconciled to profit tax expenses as follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Theoretical profit tax (expense)/benefit at 

20% (2013: 24,5%)

Effect of non-tax deductible impairment 

losses

Effect of different tax rates

The year ended 31 
December 2014

8,359

(1,672)

(186)

(181)

(2,039)

The year ended 31 
December 2013

(9,709)

2,379

(2,274)

1,095

1,200

The effective tax rate was 24% for 2014 and 12% for 2013.

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends in 2014 and 2013 by the 
Group to its shareholders.

(1,915)

(124)

-

(2,039)

(321)

1,521

- 

1,200
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Financial instruments and financial risk factors
 
Financial risk factors 

The Group’s activities and activities of particular entities of the Group expose to a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (including foreign currency exchange risk, interest rates risk and price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. Since the beginning of 2003 the Parent company has a risk policy in order to hedge 
its financial exposures, approved by the Management Board. This risk policy provides written principles 
for overall risk management and policies for specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 
and other particular areas. The Parent company management considers these measures as sufficient 
to control the risks of the Parent company business activities. As the Parent Company is ultimately 
owned by OJSC Inter RAO, the entities of the Group are at the same time subsidiaries of OJSC Inter 
RAO. As such, the risk management policy in terms of the Group subsidiaries is governed on the level 
of OJSC Inter RAO.

(a) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will not be able to pay amounts 
due in full when due. Credit risk is managed on the Group basis, as well as at the level of the particular 
Group entity. Financial assets which are potentially subject to credit risk are presented in the table 
below net of an allowance for impairment provision and consist principally of trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history. The Group’s current arrangements include assessing the customers’ 
financial position, past experience and other relevant factors. The carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables, net of the allowance for impairment provision, represents the maximum amount exposed 
to credit risk. Although collection of receivables could be influenced by economic and other factors, 
management believes that there is no significant risk of loss to the Group beyond the impairment 
provision already recorded.

As the Group’s assets are located in different geographical areas (European Union and others) 
potential credit risk is associated with the credit risks of those regions. Some of the areas where Group 
operations take place continue to display certain characteristics of an emerging market. As such, the 
Group’s credit risk is strongly related to any deterioration of the business environment in those areas.

Information on financial assets potentially subject to credit risk in terms of geographical areas is 
presented below:

31 December 2014

Other current assets (Note 13)
Trade receivables (Note 11)
Other receivables (Note 11)
Loans issued non-current 
(Note 10)
Loans issued current (Note 11)
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

  

 

  

 

 

Total

18,098
22,397
2,212

-

-
12,606

55,313

Lithuania

190
16,175

-

9,100

25,465

Finland

17,778
5,006

-

675

23,459

Other

130
1,216
2,212

2,831

6,389
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31 December 2013

Other current assets (Note 13)
Trade receivables (Note 11)
Other receivables (Note 11)
Loans issued non-current 
(Note 10)
Loans issued current (Note 11)
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

  

 

  

 

 

Total

13,191
17,349
1,385

3
1

5,572

37,501

Lithuania

207
12,860

2

3
1

2,048

15,121

Finland

12,841
4,207

51

-
-

220

17,319

Other

143
282

1,332

-
-

3,304

5,061

                      

As at 31 December 2014

A
B'
B''
B'''
C
Other small debtors (A class)

Total

  

 

  

 

 

Share in 
total, %

100%
-
-
-
-
-

100%

Provision for 
impairment of

accounts receivable

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Nominal value

22,397
-
-
-
-
-

22,397

Carrying 
amount

22,397
-
-
-
-
-

22,397

                      

The Group’s general objective for managing credit risk is to ensure continuous revenue collection and 
stable cash inflow as well as efficient financial asset utilization. 

Being mainly linked to trade receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is generally affected by 
quality of such debtors. It is considered, that business activities among the diverse entities within the 
Group differ. Consequently credit risks are specific for the different types of trade receivables (private 
sector, wholesale trading etc.).

Due to the impracticability of determining independent credit ratings for each of its customers and trade 
partners, as well as taking into account the dissimilarity between different groups of them, the Group 
assesses credit risks allied with trade receivables based upon particular precedent experience and 
business relationship supported by other factors.

In order to obtain better credit risk monitoring the Group has classified its receivables according to its 
own assessment of their credit risk rate. The Group makes sure that the provision for impairment of 
accounts receivable reflects the credit risk classification in order to consistently grade and treat different 
groups of receivables in a similar manner.
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As at 31 December 2013

A
B'
B''
B'''
C
Other small debtors (A class)

Total

  

 

  

 

 

Share in 
total, %

100%
-
-
-
-
-

100%

Provision for 
impairment of

accounts receivable

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Nominal value

17,349
-
-
-
-
-

17,349

Carrying 
amount

17,349
-
-
-
-
-

17,349

                      

The Group has applied three main Credit risk Classes – A  (premium), B  (medium), C  (low-grade).

Class A – parties with stable financial performance who have rarely allowed delayed settlement or 
defaulted on their financial obligations towards the Group. The credit risk related to those entities and 
individuals is considered minimal. No provision has been applied for such receivables. 

Class B – parties, whose capacity to clear their financial obligations towards the Group is to some 
extent affected by credit risk. This group is sequentially divided into three sub-classes: 

Class B’ – parties with satisfactory solvency, where any delaying of payments has been only short-term 
and temporary in character, related agreements are put in place accordingly, credit risk related to those 
entities and individuals is considered low.

Class B’’ – parties with poor solvency, reasonably frequent delays in payments happen from time to 
time, there is reasonable uncertainty regarding their capacity to clear their financial obligations towards 
the Group. The credit risk related to those entities and individuals is considered acceptable.

Class B’’’ – parties with unsatisfactory solvency, frequent delay in payments happen or\and have 
systematic grounds (reasons), there is significant uncertainty regarding their capacity to clear their 
financial obligations towards the Group. The credit risk related to those entities and individuals is 
considered moderate. 

The main reason behind dividing Class B into the three sub-classes is to develop a tool for more precise 
monitoring of the status of receivables and the outcome of credit risk-management measures 
employed.

Class C – parties with uncertain capacity to meet their financial obligations towards the Group. The 
credit risk related to those entities and individuals, mainly residential subscribers in Georgia, is 
considered high. The Group can not switch off the debtors or reject potential debtors of this class due 
to social and political reasons.

Policies and procedures to address credit risk-management include financial claims and court 
proceedings. Group entities also use a wide range of proactive credit risk-management procedures 
where they are possible considering the rules of national energy markets. Such procedures include 
preliminary credit risk-assessment before setting a contract or a deal.
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(b) Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group incurs currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency 

other than functional currency of each entity within the Group. The currencies giving rise to this risk are 

primarily the USD and EUR

.

The Group has the following foreign-currency denominated financial assets and liabilities: 

At 31 December 2014

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and borrowings 

Net foreign currency 
position

  

 

  

 

 

Total

3,472
-

3,472

USD

3

-

3

EUR

3,300

3,300

Other

169

169

                      

At 31 December 2013

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and borrowings 

Net foreign currency 
position

  

 

  

 

 

Total

1,622
(1,439)

183

USD

241

(1,439)

(1,198)

EUR

1,302

1,302

Other

79

-

79
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in the USD dollar 

exchange rates as the main foreign currency the Group is exposed to. The impact on the Group’s profit 

before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. The Group’s exposure 

to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material.

2014

2013

Change in USD rate

+5%

-5%

+5%

-5%

Effect on profit before 

tax

-

-

(60)

60

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market 

interest rates. Changes in interest rates impact primarily loans and borrowings by changing either their 

fair value (fixed rate debt) or their future cash flows (variable rate debt). At the moment, Group’s 

management does not have a formal policy of determining how much of the Group’s exposure should 

be to fixed or variable rates. However, at the time of raising new loans or borrowings management uses 

its judgment to decide whether it believes that a fixed or variable rate would be more favourable to the 

Group over the expected period until maturity. The Group’s management does not hedge its interest 

rate risk.

As at 31 December 2014 the major part of loans had the flat rate or being hedged against EURIBOR 

rate increase.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates of 

loans and borrowings.

2014
EUR

USD

EUR

USD

2013
EUR

USD

EUR

USD

Increase/decrease 

in basis points

+50

+50

-10

-10

+50

+50

-10

-10

Effect on profit 

before tax

(142)

(16)

28

3

(158)

(36)

32

5



FINANCIALS
FINANCIALS / IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 (in thousands of EUR)

60RAO Nordic Oy | +358 9 773 81 000 | Tammasaarenkatu 1, FI-00180 Helsinki | office@raonordic.com | Company ID: FI17849377

(с) Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group seeks to adopt 
a prudent approach to liquidity risk management which implies holding a reasonable level of cash and 
maintaining the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted 
cash flows translated at exchange rates as at the end of the reporting periods.

 

Loans and 
borrowings

Anticipated interest

Trade payables 
(Note 17)

Total at 31 
December 2014

Less than
1 year

13,818

481

21,932

36,231

Between 2 
and 5 
years

10,038

282

10,320

Between
5 and 20 

years

4,415

134

4,549

Over
20 years

-

-

-

-

Over
20 years

-

-

-

-

Total

31,638

992

21,932

54,562

Between 1 
and 2 years

3,367

95

3,462

 

Loans and 
borrowings

Anticipated interest

Trade payables 
(Note 17)

Total at 31 
December 2013

Less than
1 year

17,459

861

14,315

32,635

Between 2 
and 5 years

17,559

811

-

18,370

Between
5 and 20 

years

516

84

-

600

Total

40,111

2,316

14,315

56,742

Between 1 
and 2 years

4,577

560

-

5,137
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(d) Capital  management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the ability to continue operations on the 
going concern basis and to provide returns to shareholders as well as to maintain a strong capital base 
to provide creditor’s and the market with confidence in the Group.

The ultimate shareholder of the Parent Company individually monitors capital of the Parent Company 
and its subsidiaries on the basis of a number of ratios, including gearing ratio, based on quarterly 
statutory financial statements and management accounts of the entities, prepared according to 
statutory requirements.

The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio under 40%. In addition the Group monitors the following 
ratios:

Debt/EBITDA not higher then 3;

Debt/Tangible net worth not higher then 1.5;

EBITDA/Interest expenses not less then 4.

Total interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings
Total equity
Gearing ratio

Operating profit
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of non-current 
assets
EBITDA

Intangible assets
Tangible net worth

Interest expenses

Debt/EBITDA
Debt/ Tangible net worth
EBITDA/Interest expenses

2014

31,638
38,473
45%

10,615
1,956

933
13,504

36,923
1,550

3,068

2,34
20,41
4,40

2013

40,111
34,158
54,01%

(7,595)
2,471

9,240
4,116

38,690
(4,532)

2,741

9,75
-

1,5
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(e) Electricity derivatives

The Group is exposed to financial risk in relation to electricity derivative instruments traded on 

Nasdaqomx by RAO Nordic Oy. The company has a risk policy in place to ensure that gains and losses 

on those derivatives are within acceptable limits. The company operates “stop loss” positions to limit 

potential losses to EUR 6 million. If the limits are reached, all open risk positions must be closed and 

the loss or profit will be realised. Other procedures applied within the risk management measures are 

the setting of maximum volume of open positions on electricity derivatives and the use of valuation 

techniques of trading portfolio such as stress-test, Value-at-Risk, etc.

 (f) Fair values

Fair value has been determined either by reference to the market value at the end of the reporting 

period or by discounting the relevant cash flows using market interest rates for similar instruments. As 

a result of this exercise management believes that the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities 

approximates are their carrying amounts.
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Contingencies

The rental payables after the balance sheet are as the follows.

One year after

Between two and five years

Office rentals

78

39

Other equipment 
rentals

161

82

As at 31 December 2014

One year after

Between two and five years

Office rentals

70

-

Other equipment 
rentals

263

171

As at 31 December 2013

(a) Political environment 

The operations and earnings of Group entities continue, from time to time and in varying degrees, to be 
affected by political, legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments, including those related to 
environmental protection, in Lithuania and Kazakhstan.

(b) Legal proceedings

In the normal course of business the Group may be a party to legal actions. Management of the Group 
is unaware of any actual, pending or threatened claims as at the signing date of these financial 
statements, which would have a material impact on the Group.

(c) Tax contingency 
    
The subsidiaries in the countries where Group operate have various transactions with other related 
parties, where the pricing is determined in conjunction with other companies within the Shareholder 
Group. The pricing policy could give rise to transfer pricing risks. In management’s opinion, the Group 
is in substantial compliance with the tax laws of the countries, where Group companies operate. 
However, relevant authorities could take different positions with regard to interpretive issues or court 
practice could develop adversely with respect to the positions taken by the Group and the effect could 
be significant.
 
The Group includes a number of operating and investment companies located in a number of tax 
jurisdictions across Europe and CIS. Those entities are subject to a complex variety of tax regimes and 
the nature of current and past trading and investment activities exposes them to areas of tax legislation 
involving considerable judgement and, consequently, uncertainty.



31 December 2014

Other current assets (Note 13)
Trade receivables (Note 11)
Other receivables (Note 11)
Loans issued non-current 
(Note 10)
Loans issued current (Note 11)
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Total

18,098

22,397

2,212

-

-

12,606

55,313

Lithuania

190
16,175

-

9,100

25,465

Finland

17,778
5,006

-

675

23,459

Other

130
1,216
2,212

2,831

6,389
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Related party transactions

(a) Parent company and control relationships 

The parent of RAO Nordic Oy is OJSC Inter RAO (see Note 1). As at 31 December 2014 the State 
owned 70.12% of voting shares in OJSC Inter RAO through other state owned companies such as 
Rosneftegaz, FSK UES GROUP, RUSHYDRO and Inter RAO Capital. 

Transactions with management and close family members 

Key management received the following remuneration during the year, which is included in wages, 
benefits and payroll taxes expenses:

Salaries and bonuses

For the year ended
31 December 2014

1,750

For the year ended
31 December 2013

1,652

(b) Transactions with other related parties

Purchase power from OJSC Inter RAO 
(parent company)

Interest expenses in relation OJSC Inter 
RAO (parent company)

Interest expenses in relation INTER RAO 
CREDIT B.V. (sister company)

For the year ended
31 December 2014

225,622

-

368

225,990

For the year ended
31 December 2013

292,778

26

450

293,254

Trade accounts receivable from OJSC 
Inter RAO (parent company)

For the year ended
31 December 2014

41
41

For the year ended
31 December 2013

3,846
3,846

Expenses

Accounts receivable



As at 31 December 2014

A
B'
B''
B'''
C
Other small debtors (A class)

Total

Share in 
total, %

100%

-

-

-

-

-

100%

Provision for 
impairment of

accounts receivable

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Carrying 
amount

22,397
-
-
-
-
-

22,397
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Loans payable

INTER RAO CREDIT B.V. (sister 
company)

OJSC Inter RAO (parent company)

For the year ended
31 December 2014

9,295

-

9,295

For the year ended
31 December 2013

11,251

179

11,430

The loans from INTER RAO CREDIT B.V. have been provided to RAO Nordic Oy in August and October 
2014. The loans proceeds have been used to refinance loans matured. The rates are fixed: 4,2%, for 
the USD loan, 3,03% and 5,97% for the EUR loans. All loans are unsecured. As at 31.12.2014 the 
residual amount was EUR 9,295 thousand. 

There are parent company guarantees provided by OJSC Inter RAO to ING Bank (EURAZIA) ZAO and 
Deutsche Bank OOO on the amounts up to EUR 95,000 thousand and EUR 10,000 thousand 
respectively to cover possible risks related to the issuing of the Bank guarantees in favor of NASDAQ 
OMX AB on the same amounts. As at 31 December 2014 the used guarantees amount was EUR 
60,000 thousand.

Loans interest payables to OJSC Inter 
RAO (parent company)
PCG interest payables to OJSC Inter RAO 
(parent company)
Trade accounts payable to OJSC Inter 
RAO
Interest payables to INTER RAO CREDIT 
B.V. (sister company)

For the year ended
31 December 2014

-

27

18,098

-
18,125

For the year ended
31 December 2013

1,259

47

12,059

58
13,423

Accounts payable
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Significant subsidiaries

The principal subsidiaries consolidated in the Group’s financial statements are disclosed in the table 
below:
 

 

Distributing and trading entities
UAB INTER RAO Lietuva (Note 5)
INTER GREEN AB
SIA INTER RAO Latvia
INTER RAO Eesti
IRL POLSKA SP. z.o.o

Generating entities
UAB Vydmantai Wind Park

Other entity
Asia Energy B.V.
OrangeWings Limited 

Country 
of incorporation

Lithuania
Sweden
Latvia

Estonia
Poland

Lithuania

Netherlands
British Virgin 

Island

31 December 
2014

Ownership/voting

51%
75%
51%
51%
51%

51%

-
-

31 December 
2013

Ownership/voting

51%
75%
51%
51%
51%

51%

100%
100%
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Material partly-owned subsidiaries

Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests

 Name

UAB INTER RAO Lietuva

UAB Vydmantai Wind Park

Country of 
incorporation 
and operation

Lithuania

Lithuania

2014

49%

49%

2013

49%

49%

Accumulated balances of 
material non-controlling interest
UAB INTER RAO Lietuva
UAB Vydmantai Wind Park

Profit allocated to material 
non-controlling interest
UAB INTER RAO Lietuva
UAB Vydmantai Wind Park

2014

8,424
4,736

5,560
545

2013

4,709
4,156

466
1,138
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Summarised statement of profit or loss 
for 2014

Revenue 
Operating expenses
Finance income
Finance expenses

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income

Attributable to non-controlling interests
Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests

UAB INTER RAO 
Lietuva

191,609
(178,309)

15
(63)

13,252
(1,905)

11,347

11,347

5,560
1,845

UAB Vydmantai Wind 
Park

4,930
(2,715)

22
(922)

1,315
(202)

1,113

1,113

545
-

Summarised statement of profit or loss 
for 2013

Revenue 
Operating expenses
Finance income
Finance expenses

Profit before tax
Income tax

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income

Attributable to non-controlling interests
Dividends paid to non-controlling 
interests

UAB INTER RAO 
Lietuva

208,444
(207,415)

235
(66)

1,198
(246)

952

952

466
3,832

UAB Vydmantai Wind 
Park

4,959
(3,222)

30
(918)

849
1,474

2,323

2,323

1,138
-

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries is provided below. The information is based 
on amounts before inter-company eliminations.



Over
20 years

-

-

-

-

Loans and 
borrowings

Anticipated interest

Trade payables 
(Note 17)

Total at 31 
December 2013

Less than
1 year

17,459

861

14,315

32,635

Between 2 
and 5 years

17,559

811

-

18,370

Between
5 and 20 

years

516

84

-

600

Total

40,111

2,316

14,315

56,742

Between 1 
and 2 years

4,577

560

-

5,137
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Summarised statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2014

Cash and receivables (current)
Property, plant and equipment and other 
non-current assets
Trade and other payables (current)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowing and 
deferred tax liabilities (non-current)

Total equity
Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent
Non-controlling interests

UAB INTER RAO 
Lietuva

28,141

12,451
(23,400)

-

17,192

8,768
8,424

UAB Vydmantai Wind 
Park

1,811

31,180
(4,198)

(19,127)

9,666

4,930
4,736

Summarised statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2013

Cash and receivables (current)
Property, plant and equipment and other 
non-current assets
Trade and other payables (current)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowing and 
deferred tax liabilities (non-current)

Total equity
Attributable to:
Equity holders of parent
Non-controlling interests

UAB INTER RAO 
Lietuva

18,327

12,436
21,153

-

9,610

4,901
4,709

UAB Vydmantai Wind 
Park

2,385

32,111
(4,033)

(21,981)

8,482

4,326
4,156

Events after the reporting period

There have been no events after the 31 December 2014 that may influence or have any material impact 
on the activities of the Group or its financial position. 
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MOTHER COMPANY

 NET TURNOVER

 Other operating income
 Raw materials and services
 Raw materials and consumables
 Purchases during the financial year

 Staff expenses
 Wages and salaries
 Social security expenses
 Pension expenses
 Other social security expenses

 Depreciation and reduction in value
 Depreciation according to plan

 Other operating charges

 OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS)

 Financial income and expenses
 Income from group undertakings
 Other interest and financial income
 From group companies
 From others
 Reduction in value of investments held as
 non-current assets
 Interest and other financial expenses
 For group companies
 For others

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE 
EXTRAORDINARY
ITEMS

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE
APPROPRIATIONS
AND TAXES

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR

135.682.225,49

0,00

-135.386.972,81
-135.386.972,81

-3.020.249,23

-566.537,25
-176.451,01

-3.763.237,49

-36.962,38
-36.962,38

-2.873.186,07

-6.378.133,26

1.920.180,72

39.783,05
671.275,69

-39.199,73

-500.073,59
-1.494.285,74

597.680,40

-5.780.452,86

-5.780.452,86

-5.780.452,86

3.1

3.2

 3.3

 3.4

 3.5

 3.5

 3.5

 3.5

221.703.261,96

40.456,79

-216.680.478,44
-216.680.478,44

-3.672.437,62

-543.820,87
-157.172,06

-4.373.430,55

-33.368,14
-33.368,14

-1.723.115,83

-1.066.674,21

3.988.067,65

35.641,66
57.730,05

-14.546.135,34

-537.897,57
-638.553,18

-11.641.146,73

-12.707.820,94

-12.707.820,94

-12.707.820,94

Note
1.1.2014

- 31.12.2014
1.1.2013

- 31.12.2013Currency EUR

Income statement
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Balance sheet

           
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible assets
Machinery and equipment
Other tangible assets

Investments
Holdings in group undertakings
Participating interests

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors
Short-term
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by group    
undertakings
Loan receivables
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Cash in hand and at banks

 ASSETS TOTAL

110.887,12
3.800,00

114.687,12

35.131.681,12
0,00

35.131.681,12

35.246.368,24

5.624.197,19
0,00

1.920.180,72
3.299.315,30

25.170.669,55
36.014.362,76

671.911,08

36.686.273,84

71.932.642,08

 

4.1

 4.2

 4.3

 4.3

 100.104,40
3.800,00

103.904,40

35.190.880,85
3.968.000,00
39.158.880,85

39.262.785,25

727.664,62
3.716.703,05
3.151.588,83
3.593.479,87
27.465.220,87
38.654.657,24

217.206,55

38.871.863,79

78.134.649,04

Note 31.12.2014 31.12.2013Currency EUR

ASSETS
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CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Subscribed capital
Subscribed capital

Legal reserve
Retained earnings (loss)
Profit (loss) for the financial year

CREDITORS
Long-term
Loans from credit institutions

Short-term
Loans from credit institutions
Advances received
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group    
undertakings
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

LIABILITIES TOTAL

1.305.000,00
1.305.000,00

396,63
27.170.729,97
-5.780.452,86

22.695.673,74

61.702,56
61.702,56

0,00
1.165.328,55
1.884.409,46

13.323.682,55
3.733.469,16

29.068.376,06
49.175.265,78

49.236.968,34

71.932.642,08

 
5.1

 
5.2
 5.3
 5.3

1.305.000,00
1.305.000,00

396,63
39.878.550,91
-12.707.820,94

28.476.126,60

26.769,88
26.769,88

916.662,56
938.364,43

1.557.253,60

11.355.685,77
2.897.274,17

31.966.512,03
49.631.752,56

49.658.522,44

78.134.649,04

Note 31.12.2014 31.12.2013Currency EUR

LIABILITIES

FINANCIALS / MOTHER COMPANY
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Сash flow statement

Profit before tax  
  
Depreciation  
Financial items and disposal loss  
  
  
Decrease in receivable  
Increase in payable  
  
  
Interest paid  
Interest received  
Dividends received  
Income tax paid  
Net cash from operating  
  
Machinery investment  
Subsidiary disposal  
Loan provided  
Net cash from investments  
  
Long-term borrowings  
Long-term borrowings repaid  
Short-term borrowings  
Loan repaid  
Dividends paid  
Net cash from financial  
  
Net increase in cash  
  
Balance 31.12.2013  
Balance 31.12.2014  

-5.780   

34   
850   

-4.896

2.630   
1.456   
-810

-441   
83   

1.920   
0   

752

0   
2.541   

0   
2.541

35   

11.795   
-14.668   

0   
-2.838

455

217
672

-12.708   

33   
11.642   
-1.033

-22.243   
12.114   
-11.162

-473   
188   

3.988   
0   

-7.459

0   
0   
0   
0   

7.692   
-39   

-8.000   
0   

-347

-7.806

8.023
217

1.1.2014-31.12.2014 1.1.2013-31.12.2013Currency EUR
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Notes to the financial statements of 31.12.2014     
 
Notes to the preparation of the financial statements:     

Valuation- and perodization principles and -methods: 
 
The non-current assets have been stated at cost and inventories are stated at the lower of cost and 
realisable value by following the fifo principle and the lowest value principle of the 5 paragraph 6 § 1 
moment. 

The acquisition cost of the non-current property will be depreciated according to plan. The depreciation 
plan is determined by experience.  The remainder of the acquisition cost and residual value will 
depreciated during the estimated useful life. 

Commodity risk hedging
       
Commodity risk hedging has been applied during the financial year 2010. The company has partly 
applied hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39 as so-called cash flow hedge.

More information on the electricity price hedging risk and on the risk of derivatives has been given in the 
Group preparation principles of the Group Statements and in the notes 23 "Financial Instruments and 
financial risk factors".   

Derivatives
       
RAO Nordic trades derivatives both for customers and for the hedging of selling prices of physical 
import from Russia. In 2014 the financial product sales were above 29 TWh. The major volume had 
been traded through NASDAQOMX Commodities, the less part via OTC market.The Financial 
instruments are statet at the fair value. 

Deferred tax
       
The deferred tax amount is recognised on the fair value of gross hedge reserve acknowledged to be
effective at the end of each reporting period. The tax rate is Finnish corporate income tax rate 20%.
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Notes to the company which is member of the Group:     
   
Mother company:       
JSC "INTER RAO UES" Bolshaya Pirokovskaya str., 27/3, 119435 Moscow,Russia is the Mother 
Company of RAO Nordic Oy The copy of the Group Financial Statement of the Mother Company is 
available at the above mentioned address. 

      Notes to the income statement:   

3.1 Notes to the revenue
 

31.12.2014

120.664.512,37

15.017.713,12

135.682.225,49

 
31.12.2013

189.377.276,01

32.325.985,95

221.703.261,96

FINANCIALS / MOTHER COMPANY

Revenues by segment of business:  

Electricity trading   

Profit from financial trading

   
    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

14

 
31.12.2013

17

Number of employees:

Number of persons the company has employed  
during the financial year on the average.

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

3.020.249,23

566.537,25

176.451,01

3.763.237,49

 
31.12.2013

3.672.437,62

543.820,87

157.172,06

4.373.430,55

Staff costs:    

Wages and salaries

Pension costs    

Other social security costs    

Total

   
    

 

 

 
31.12.2014

65.118.497,90

62.041.707,96

8.511.911,68

10.107,95

135.682.225,49

 
31.12.2013

91.953.250,71

126.670.649,61

2.904.291,88

175.069,76

221.703.261,96

Revenues by geographical market

Finland    

Nord Pool (Norway)

Sweden    

Russia    

3.2 Notes to the personnel: 



Optional social security expenses 

Expenses of premises 

Expenses of use of software, machinery and 
equipment 

Travel expenses    

Entertainment cost   

Marketing expenses   

Administration expenses   

Disposal of shares    

Other business expenses    
 

75 438,08

182 711,34

401 060,35

49 491,05

66 501,47

23 192,71

506 314,21

1 448 171,87

120 304,99

2 873 186,07

93.749,52

189.102,57

428.545,66

89.491,58

182.794,16

54.319,75

622.502,24

-

62.610,35

1.723.115,83
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Depreciation

percetage

 
Depreciation

method
Item

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

3 020 249,23

566 537,25

176 451,01

3.763.237,49

 
31.12.2013

3 672 437,62

543 820,87

157 172,06

4.373.430,55

Staff costs:    

Wages and salaries

Pension costs    

Other social security costs    

Total

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

3.3 The basis of the depreciation according to plan and changes:

 3.4 Other operating charges

Machinery and equip. 25% residual value depr.
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Financial income 
Interest income
Impairment
Interest expenses
    

1.920.180,72
39.783,05
-39.199,73

-500.073,59
1.420.690,45

3.988.067,65
35.641,66

-14.546.135,34
-537.897,57

-11.060.323,60

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

Piece of art
Expensed small acquisitions  

3.800,0
6.811,70

3.800,00
13.662,75

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

Machinery and equipment
Other intangible assets
Depreciations total

36.962,38
0,00

36.962,38

33.368,14
0,00

33.368,14

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

3.5 Total income and costs from the investments in the group and affiliated companies:

   

 
 

Tangible assets, machinery 
and equipment

4.1 Intangible and tangible assets 

Notes to the balance sheet assets: 

Acquisition cost 1.1.2014    
Additions 
Disposals
Acquisition cost 31.12.2014 
       
Acc depr at the beginning of the fiscal year 
Depreciations of the fiscal year 
Depreciations of the disposed items
Acc depr at the end of the fiscal year 
       
Cost at the end of the fiscal year
Acc depr at the end of the fiscal year 
Book value 31.12.2014 
Book value 31.12.2013

540.454,68
75.245,10
-27.500,00
588.199,78

440.350,28
36.962,38

0,00
477.312,66

588.199,78
-477.312,66
110.887,12
100.104,40

The depreciations of the non-current assets 
and other tangible assets:



Acquisition cost 1.1.2014
Additions 
Acquisition cost 31.12.2014 
Reduction in value 
Book value 31.12.2014

35.190.880,85
0,00

35.190.880,85
-59.199,73

35.131.681,12

3.968.000,00
0,00

3.968.000,00
-3.968.000,00

0,00
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Machinery and equipment in balance sheet in 
total,
of which the residual value is:

110.887,12
110.887,12

100.104,40
100.104,40

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

The total residual value of the machinery and 
equipment:

    

 

 

 
Group companies

 
AssociatesThe total residual value of the machinery and 

equipment:

 4.2  Investments 

    

 
 

 4.3 Receivables from group companies 

Electricity trading receivable 31.12.2014
Loan receivables
Accrued income

0,00
1.920.180,72

25.000,79
1.945.181,51

3.716.703,05
3.138.756,95

35.641,66
6.891.101,66

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013    

 

 

4.4 The material items in accrued short-term receivables:

Accrued interest receivables
Hedging assets
Prepayments
Other receivables

25.000,79
24.951.726,98

46.500,00
147.441,78

25.170.669,55

35.641,66
27.744.553,06

91.144,66
-406.118,51

27.465.220,87

    

 
 

Notes to the hedged financial instruments 

Electricity derivatives 
(1000e)

Fair value 31.12 Adjustments in 
Income Statement

Adjustments in fair 
value reserve

2014
2013

7 486
6 407

-
-

0
0



Subscribed capital   
Share capital 1.1
Share capital 31.12
       
Fair value reserve 1.1
Additions 
Decrease
Fair value reserve 31.12

Legal reserve 1.1      
Legal reserve 31.12     
Subscibed capital at the end of the fiscal year  
       
Retained earnings 1.1
Profit distribution
Retained earnings 31.12
Profit/loss for the fiscal year 
Retained earnings at the end of the fiscal year
       
Total equity
       
Distributable profit
Retained earnings
Profit /loss for the fiscal year
Transferred to the fair value reserve
Total
       

1.305.000,00
1.305.000,00

   
0,00
0,00
0,00
0,00

   
396,63
396,63

1.305.396,63
 

27.170.729,97
0,00

27.170.729,97
-5.780.452,86
21.390.277,11

 
22.695.673,74

 
31.12.2014

27.170.729,97
-5.780.452,86

0,00
21.390.277,11

   
   
 

1.305.000,00
1.305.000,00

    
255.484,75

0,00
-255.484,75

0,00
    
 396,63

396,63
1.305.396,63

    
 39.878.550,91

0,00
39.878.550,91
-12.707.820,94
27.170.729,97

    
 28.476.126,60
    

31.12.2013
39.878.550,91
-12.707.820,94

0,00
27.170.729,97
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31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013    

 

 

Notes to the liabilities:

5.1 Notes to the liabilities:       

Equity: 
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5.2 Amounts owed to group undertakings 

Purchase payables

Accruals

Loans

3.966.915,25

62.145,77

9.294.621,53

13.323.682,55

0,00

104.579,98

11.251.105,79

11.355.685,77

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

5.3 The material items in accrued payables

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

Hedging liabilities

Salary accruals including social costs

Accrued bank interest and provisions  

Total

28.553.377,89

446.573,51

68.424,66

29.068.376,06

31.106.891,04

859.620,99

-

31.966.512,03

    

 
 

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

Hedging liabilities

Salary accruals including social costs

Accrued bank interest and provisions  

Total

28.553.377,89

446.573,51

68.424,66

29.068.376,06

31.106.891,04

859.620,99

-

31.966.512,03

    

  

 
31.12.2014

 
31.12.2013

2.811.758,08

85.516,09

2.897.274,17

3.641.803,77

91.665,39

3.733.469,16

VAT liability

Payroll tax liabilities
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31.12.2014 31.12.2013Liabilities 

To be paid during the next fiscal year  

To be paid within 2-5 years 

     

      

      

To be paid during the next fiscal year 

To be paid within 2-5 years 

      

Total       

Rent of premises

89.000,00

0,00

89.000,00
Rent of machinery

and it-programs 

172.000,00

120.000,00

292.000,00
381 000,00

Rent of premises

78.268,80

39.134,40

117.403,20
Rent of machinery 

and it-programs

160.687,67

82.373,83

243.061,50
360.464,70

    

 
 

31.12.2014 31.12.2013
Salaries and other compensation
of managing director and members of the board: 

875.865,12910.821,7

    31.12.2014 31.12.2013Auditors' fee

29.350,0048.450,00

The Members of the Board and the Managing Director do not have a separate pension plan. They will 
retire according to the pension law of Finland. 

Fee for annual audit,

Ernst & Young Oy Chartered Accountants
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11

30

55

99

90

paper receipts in folders

paper receipts in folders

paper receipts in folders

paper receipts in folders

paper receipts in folders

Bank receipts Nordea

Sales receipts

Purchase receipts 

Automatic VAT-postings

Memorandums

    List of book-keeping files and storage method: 

Daily book

General ledger

Accounts receivable

Accounts payable

Payroll accounting 

Financial statements

Specifications to Financial Statements

ADP-reports

ADP-reports

ADP- sub accounting

ADP- sub accounting

ADP- sub accounting

Binded book

Binded book

Receipt code storage

Financial statements must be stored not less than 10 years from the balance sheet date (PAR 2:10). 
The receipts of the fiscal year must be stored not less than 6 years from the end of the closing year. 
      



FINANCIALS

AUDITOR’S REPORT (Translation)
To the Annual General Meeting of RAO Nordic Oy

We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report of the Board of Directors, 
and the administration of RAO Nordic Oy for the year ended 31 December, 2014. The financial 
statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow 
statement and notes to the financial statements. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation of financial statements and the 
report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company's 
accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company are 
in compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements, on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the report of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that 
we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
good auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors are free from material misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors of 
the parent company and the Managing Director are guilty of an act or negligence which may result in 
liability in damages towards the company or have violated the Limited Liability Companies Act or the 
articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance, and cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 
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Opinion on the company’s financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view 
of both the consolidated and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements. 

Helsinki 13 February 2015 

Ernst & Young Oy 
Authorized Public Accountant Firm 

Mikko Rytilahti 
Authorized Public Accountant 
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Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for the preparation of financial statements and the 
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accounts and finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company are 
in compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
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statements and on the report of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that 
we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
good auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and perform the audit to 
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Directors are free from material misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of Directors of 
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liability in damages towards the company or have violated the Limited Liability Companies Act or the 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
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the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of financial statements and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance, and cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 
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Opinion on the company’s financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view 
of both the consolidated and the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements. 

Helsinki 13 February 2015 

Ernst & Young Oy 
Authorized Public Accountant Firm 

Mikko Rytilahti 
Authorized Public Accountant 
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